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SERVICES

In Leading Churches

THE CATHEDRAL OF ST. JOHN -
THE DIVINE
mNew York City
Sundays: 8, 9, 11, Holy Communion;
10, Morning Prayer; 4, Evening Prayer;
Sermons, 11 and 4.
Weekdays: 7:30, 8 (and 9 Holy Days
except Wednesday, and 10 on Wednes-
days) . Holy Communion; 8:30, Morning
Prayer; 5, Evening Prayer. Open daily
7 a m to 6 p m

GRACE CHURCH, NEW YORK
Broadway at 10th St
Rev. Louis W. Pitt, D.D., Rector
Sundays: 9 H. Comm.; 11 Sermon.
Weekdays: Tues.-Thurs., Prayers—12:30.
Thurs., and Holy Days, H.C.—11:45
Fri., Organ Recital—12:30.

THE HEAVENLY REST, NEW YORK
Fifth Avenue at 90th Street
Rev. Henry Darlington, D. D.
Sundays: Holy Communion, 8 and 10 a.m.;
Morning Service and Sermon, 11 a.m.
Thursdays and Holy Days: Holy Commu-
nion," 11 a.m.

Ji;ST. BARTHOLOMEW’S CHURCH
fl New York

11 . Park Avenue and 51st Street

Rev. Geo. Pauli T. Sargent, D.D., Recto/
8 a'm. and 9 a m., Holy Communion.
11 ,a.m., Morning Service and Sermon.
Weekdays: Holy Communion Wednesday
at18 am.
Thursdays and Saints’ Days at 10:30 a.m.
- The Church is open daily for prayer.

ST. JAMES' CHURCH
Madison Ave. at 71st St.,, New York

Rjty. Arthur L. Kinsolving, D.D., Rector
Sixtijday: 8 am. Holy Communion; 9:30
a.m., Church School; 11 am., Morning
Service and Sermon; 4 p.m., Evening
Service and Sermon.

Wedjiiesday 7:45 a. m. and Thursday
12 n6on, Holy Communion.

ST. THOMAS' CHURCH, NEW YORK

Fifth Avenue and 53rd Street
Rev. Roelif H. Brooks, S.T.D., Rector

Sundays: 8 a.m., Holy Communion; 11

a.m., Morning Prayer — 1st Sunday, Holy

Communion.

Daily: 8:30 a.m., Holy Communion.

Thursday and Holy Days: 11 a.m., Holy

Communion.

THE CHURCH OF THE ASCENSION
5th Ave. and 10th St., New York
Rev. Roscoe Thornton Foust, D.D., Rector
Sundays: 8 a.m. Holy Communion; 11
a.m., Morning Prayer and Sermon; 8 p.m.,
Service of Music (1st Sunday in month).

Daily: Holy Communion, 8 a.m.
5:30 Vespers, Tuesday through Friday.
This Church is open all day and all night.

ST. MARY THE VIRGIN
46th Street, East of Tunes Square
New York City
The Rev. Grieg Taber
Sunday Masses: 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 (High).
Evensong and Benediction, 8.

CHURCH OF THE HOLY TRINITY
316 East 88th Street
New York City
The Rev. Janies A. Paul, Vicar
Sundays: Holy Communion, 8; Church
School, 9:30; Morning Service, 11; Eve-
ning Prayer, 8.

PRO-CATHEDRAL OF THE HOLY
TRINITY

Paris, France
23, Avenue George V
Services: 8:30, 10:30 (S.S.), 10:45
Student and. Artists Center
Boulevard Raspail
The Rt. Rev. J. 1 Blair Lamed, Bishop
The Very Rev. Sturgis Lee Riddle, Dean
¢(_.“A Church for All Americans”

The W itness

For Christ and His Church

EDITORIAL BOARD

Roscoe T. Foust, Editor; William B. Spofford,
Managing Editor; Kenneth R. Forbes, Gordon
C. Graham, Hugh D. McCandless, George M.
MacMurray, Benjamin Minifie, William K.
Russell, Joseph H.-Titus, Andrew M. Van Dyke.

Contributing Editors: Frederick C. Grant,
Book Editor; F. O. Ayres Jr, L. W. Barton,
D. H. Brown Jr., Angus Dun, R. S. M. Emrich,
T. P. Ferris, J. F. Fletcher, John Gass, C. K.
Gilbert, C. L. Glenn, G. |I. Hiller, A. C.
Lichtenberger, C. S. Martin, R. C. Miller, E. L.
Parsons, J. A. Paul, Rose Phelps, Paul Roberts,
V. D. Scudder, W. M. Sharp, W. B. Sperry,
M. H. Shepherd Jr., W. B. Spofford Jr., C. W.
Sprouse, J. W. Suter, S. E. Sweet,"S. A. Temple

Jr., W. M. Weber, W. N. Welsh.

The Witness is published weekly from Sep--
tember 15th to June 15th inclusive, with the
exception of the first week in January and
semi-monthly from June 15th to September
15th by the Episcopal Church Publishing Co.
on behalf of the Witness Advisory Board,

Bishop Lane W. Barton,Chairman.

The subscription price is $4.00 a year;

bundles for sale in parishes the magazine sells
for 10c a copy, we will bill quarterly at 7c
a copy. Entered as Second Class Matter, August
5, 1948, at the Post Office at Tunkhannock,

Pa., under the act of March 3, 1879.

Postmaster: Please send notices on Form 3578
and copies returned under labels Form 3579

to The Witness, Tunkhannock, Pa.

SERVICES
In Leading Churches

ST. JOHN'S CHURCH
Lafayette Square; W ashington, D. C.

The Rev. C. Leslie Glenn
The Rev. Frank R. Wilson

Sunday: 8, 9:30, 11 a m. 4:00 and
7:30 p. m,; Mon., Tues., Thurs., and Sat.,
12; Wed., Fri., 7:30; Holy Days, 7:30
and 12

ST. JOHN'S CHURCH
Colonial Circle—Lafayette Av., Bidwell Pky.
Buffalo, New York
Rev. Walter P. Plumley, Rev. Harry W. Vere
Sunday: Holy Communion,” 8; Church
School, 11; Morning Prayer, 11.
Tuesday, Holy Communion, 10:30.
Visit one of America's beautiful Churches.

ST. PAUL'S CATHEDRAL
Shelton Square
Buffalo, New York

The Rev. Philip F. McNairy, Dean-Elect

Sunday Services: 8, 9:30 and 11.
Daily: Holy Communion at 12:05 noon.
Also, 7:30 Tuesdays; 11 Wednesdays.

ST. JOHN'S CATHEDRAL
Denver, Colorado
Very Rev. Paul Roberts, Dean
Rev. Harry Watts, Canon

Sunday: 7:30, 8:30, 9:30 and 11 — 4:30
p.m. recitals.
Weekdavs: Holy Communion, Wednesday,
7:15; Thursday, 10:30.
Holy Days: Holy Communion at 10:30.

SERVICES

In Leading Churches

CHRIST CHURCH CATHEDRAL
Main & Church Sts,, Hartford, Conn.
Sunday: 8 and 10:10 a.m., Holy Com-
munion; 9:30, Church School; 11 am.,,
Morning Prayer; 8 p.m., Evening Prayer.
Weekdays: Holy Communion, Mon. 12
noon; Tues., Fri. and Sat. 8; Wed., 11;
Thurs., 9; Wed. Noonday Service, 12:15.

CHRIST CHURCH
Cambridge
Rev. Gardiner M. Day, Rector
Rev. Frederic B. Kellogg, Chaplain
Sunday Services: 8, 9, 10 and 11 am.
Weekdays: Wednesday, 8 and 11 am.
Thursday, 7:30 a.m.

TRINITY CHURCH
Miami
Rev. G. Irvine Hiller, S.T.D., Rector
Sunday Services: 8, 9:30 and 11 am.

TRINITY CATHEDRAL

Newark New Jersey
The Very Rev. Frederick J. Warnecke, Dean
The Rev. Richard Aselford, Canon

The Rev. Benjamin F. Axleroad, Jr., Ass't.
The Rev. Edward W. Conklin, Assistant

Sundavs: 8:30 A.M., 11 A.M., 4:30 P.M.
Tues.-Fri. (October-May): 12:10 P.M.
The Cathedral is open daily

ST. PAUL'S CHURCH
Montecito & Bay Place, Oakland, Calif.
Rev. Calvin Barkow, D.D., Rector
Sundays: 8 a.m., Holy Communion; 11
a.m., Church School; 11 a.m., Morning

Prayer and Sermon.
Wednesdays: 10 a.m., Holy Communion;
10:45, Rector's Study Class.

THE CHURCH OF THE ADVENT
Meridan St. at 33rd St.
Indianapolis
The Rev. Laman H. Bruner, B.D., Rector
Sunday Services: 7:30 a.m., Holy Com-
munion; 9:30 a.m., Church School; 11

a.m., Morning Prayer and Sermon.

CHRIST CHURCH
Nashville, Tennessee
Rev. Payton Randolph Williams

7:30 a.m., Holy Communion; 9:30 and
11 a.m., Church School; 11 a.m., Morning
Prayer and Sermon; 6 p.m., Young Peo-
ple's Meetings.

Thursdays and Saints’ Days: Holy Com-
munion, 10 a.m.

CHURCH OF ST. MICHAEL AND
ST. GEORGE
St. Louis, Missouri
The Rev. J. Francis Sant, Rector
The Rev. C. George Widdifield,
Minister of Education
Sunday: 8:00, 9:25, 11 a.m.—High School,
5:45 p.m.; Canterbury Club, 6:30 p.m.

CHRIST CHURCH IN PHILADELPHIA
SECOND STREET ABOVE MARKET
Cathedral of Democracy—Founded 1695
Sunday Services: 9:30 and 11 a.m.; Church

School, 10 am.
Weekdays: Wednesday noon and 12:30.
Saints’ Days: 12 noon.

This Church is open every day.

CALVARY CHURCH
Shady and Walnut Aves.
Pittsburgh

Rev. William W. Lumpkin, Rector; Rev.
Nicholas Petkovich; Rev. Eugene M. Chap-
man; Rev. Richard J. Hardman.
Sunday: 8, 9:30, 11 and 8
HC: Mon., Thurs. 7:30; Fri. 7,7:30, 10:30
Saturday and Holy Days, 10:30

CHRIST CHURCH
Ridgewood, New Jersey

Rev. A. J. Miller, Rector

Sunday: 8 and 11 am.
Friday and Holy Days: 9:30 am.
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-STORY OF THE WEEK

Alexandria's Christ Church
An Expanding Parish

This Historical Colonial Parish Emphasizes
The Present and the Future

Although the congregation
of Christ Church, Alexandria,
Virginia, has completed over
200 years of life, using the same
building continuously for 177
years, it is this year expanding
its facilities for a wider minis-
try in a growing community.
This church, which meant so
much to George Washington
and Robert E. Lee in the 18th
and 19th centuries, is resisting
the temptation to become just
a national shrine or museum in
the 20th century. Well over
100,000 tourists visit the church
each year so that it is necessary
to employ a full time tourist
hostess. Admission fees, which
were collected for forty years,
were abolished in 1947 and the
church is open daily from 9:00
a. m. to 5:00 p. m. for sight-
seers and worshippers.

Christ Church now has a con-
gregation of almost 1,000 com-
municants and in addition has
about 750 other adherents and
about 400 in its church school.
There has been no addition to
its building facilities in 96
years. The present parish hall
was built the year after Robert
E. Lee was confirmed in Christ
Church. There are so many
children enrolled in the church
school that two sessions are
required. Attendance at the
main service on Sunday morn-
ings average 450 for the year.
During the past five years 449
people have been baptized and
297 have been presented for
confirmation. Christ Church has
two choirs under the direction
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of Mr. Robert Hawksley,
F.AGO. There are three
branches of the Woman's Aux-
iliary, three parish guilds, a
men’'s group, a young people’s
service league and a parent-
teacher group.

For several years it has be-
come increasingly evident that
the 96 year old parish hall is
inadequate for the present day
life of the congregation. The
decision had to be made
whether Christ Church would
maintain its place of spiritual
leadership in the community or

whether it would be content to.

bask in the glory of its past
history. When faced with this
choice the congregation decided
that Christ Church is not George
Washington’s church or Robert
E. Lee’s church, but that it is
God’'s church and therefore
must not be content to become
primarily a shrine or museum.
They decided that they would
build a new parish hall, keeping
the present 96 year old build-
ing, which would give adequate
facilities for religious educa-
tion, an expanded parish life,
and would also serve as a valu-
able instrument for service to
the community. After the needs
had been carefully studied and
the plans drawn, a building fund
campaign was successfully car-
ried out. The contract for the
new building was signed on
March 7th, 1950 and the ground-
breaking ceremony took place
in March. The work is pro-
gressing well and the corner-
stone is scheduled to be laid on

EDITORIAL OFFICE, 135 LIBERTY ST., NEW YORK 6, N. T

June 11th with Bishop Fred-
erick D. Goodwin of Virginia,
presiding. The building is ex-
pected to be finished before De-
cember 1st.

The new Christ Church Me-
morial Parish Hall will harmon-
ize with the 183 year old Church
building and is designed to
accentuate its architectural
beauty and charm. The lovely
red colonial brick church has a
commanding position in the
churchyard which includes half
a block. It is located in the
heart of downtown Alexandria
on U. S. Highway No. 1 which
is also the Mount Vernon Memo-
rial Boulevard. Here for 183
years it has borne its eloquent
witness to the good news of the
Christ.  Architecturally it is
typical of the Country churches
built in England in the 18th
century. The simplicity of the
interior of Christ Church cre-
ates a natural setting for evan-
gelical,” Prayer Book worship
which has been the tradition of
the Church in Virginia for
three and a half centuries.

The Rev. B. B. Comer Lile be-
came rector of Christ Church on
October 15th, 1944. The Rev.
O. V. T. Chamberlain became
assistant rector on March 1st,
1946.

NO “GRAVE DISTURBANCE”
AT CHRIST CHURCH

Christ churchyard in Alex-
andria, Virginia, was used as a
burying ground from 1765 to

1815 and many interesting
tombstones still remain. Some
local residents thought that

there had been interments on
the site of the new Christ
Church Memorial Parish Hall.
The vestry, however, knew that
the first parish hall of Christ
Church had stood on this site
and that the tombstones on the

Thret
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site had been moved to that
location in recent years. Many
of them had originally marked
graves which are now under the
present 96 year old parish hall.
When the new parish hall ex-
cavation was made careful
watch was kept for any evi-
dence of interments. In spite
of the fears which had been ex-
pressed there was absolutely no
“grave disturbance at Christ
Church,” as a Washington news-
paper humorously sub-headed a
front page story recently.

SPECIALIST IN
CHURCHES

Mr. Frank L. Cowles, gen-
eral contractor for Christ
Church Memorial Parish Hall,
Alexandria, Virginia, is a spe-
cialist in erecting church build-
ings. Within the last few years
he has built St. Clement's Epis-
copal Church and Grace Episco-
pal Church in Alexandria be-
sides erecting buildings for
Christian Science, Roman Cath-

CHRIST CHURCH, Alexandria, showing the Sanctuary. The Vic-
torian draperies on pulpit and lectern have been removed since

this was taken

Four

olic, Methodist, Lutheran and
Presbyterian congregations in
northern Virginia.

GIFTS IN KIND

ARE MADE
A member of Christ
Church, Alexandria, Virginia,

who manufactures brick, when
called on to contribute to the
new parish hall, offered to give
all the face brick for the build-
ing as his pledge. Another mem-
ber, who is in the construction
business, gave the excavation
for the new building. These un-
usual gifts in kind were received
with great appreciation.

COLONIAL ARCHITECTURE
HIS SPECIALTY

Milton L. Grigg, architect
for Christ Church Memorial
Parish Hall, Alexandria, Va., is
an outstanding authority on
Colonial architecture. For sev-
eral years he worked on the
reconstruction of Colonial Wil-
liamsburg. He has been archi-

tect for many residences and
public buildings of colonial de-
sign and has been commis-
sioned as architect for many
churches, including two Gothic
structures in the Washington
area, namely: Grace Episcopal
Church, Alexandria, and the
Church of the Atonement,
Washington, D. C. He is the
architect for the restoration of
“The Ramsay House” the old-
est building in Alexandria,
erected in 1749. Mr. Grigg is
the architect for the restoration
of Montecello, the home of
Thomas Jefferson, and for sev-
eral other buildings of Jeffer-
sonian authorship.

BISHOP BUDLONG
TO RETIRE

Bishop Budlong of Connec-
ticut is to retire on January 15,
1951, after a notable service in
the episcopate of nearly 20
years. Subject to acceptance
by the House of Bishops, he
presented the resignation to the
convention of his diocese, meet-
ing at Christ Church Cathedral,
Hartford.

The diocese has been largely
reorganized during his episco-
pate so that the administration
today is extremely efficient.
Also clergy salaries have been
notably increased; parish prop-
erties have been put in fine con-
dition; missionary offering has
been greatly increased; bap-
tisms and confirmations have
topped all previous records.

It is anticipated that Bishop
and Mrs. Budlong will continue
to reside in Hartford after his
retirement, and that he will con-
tinue to serve the Church by
assisting Bishop Walter Gray as
occasion warrants.

COMMENCEMENT
AT BERKELEY

Bishop Bentley, vice-presi-
dent of the National Council, is
to be the headliner at the com-
mencement of Berkeley Divinity
School, held in New Haven June
2. The alumni sermon will be
by the Rev. Elmer D. Horst-
mann, rector of Christ Church,
Bridgeport, Conn.

The Witness—May 25, 1950
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EPISCOPAL CHURCH

GENERAL CONVENTION
OF 1952

The Rev. Gardiner M. Day,
chairman of the local committee
on arrangements for the 1952
General Convention in Boston,
submitted his preliminary re-
port at the diocesan convention
meeting in Boston. The dates
will be Sept. 8-19, with Sym-
phony Hall the meeting place
for Deputies and Horticultural
Hall for Bishops and for ex-
hibits of church organizations.

The opening service will be in
the Boston Garden, as will also
the service at which the United
Thank Offering is presented.

The sessions of the Auxiliary
will be held in the ball room of
the Copley Plaza, with the par-
ish house of Trinity Church,
across the street, available for
sectional meetings.

Emmanuel Church will be
headquarters for the youth con-
vention, with larger meeting
held in, the new building of an
insurance company which is
nearby.

Resolutions were passed by
the delegates in opposition to
the death penalty, declaring that
it “falls for the most part on
obscure, impoverished, friend-
less or defective individuals and
rarely on the well-to-do and edu-
cated. The Church believes that
each individual is sacred, as a
child of God, and that to legalize
the killing of an offender is to
deny the basic Christian doc-
trines of forgiveness of sin and
the power of redemption, and
that mercy is a Christian duty.”

The convention also con-
demned pending state and fed-
eral bills which it said would
curb civil liberties in the name
of hunting down Communists.
The resolution stated that the
constitution “guarantees free-
dom of religion, of speech, of
press and of peaceful assembly.
We oppose every measure which
would undermine the civil liber-
ties and democratic institutions
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of our country and support
those measures which would
strengthen and extend our
democracy.”

Another'resolution asked that
the surpluses of food held by
the government be made avail-
able to areas of need at home
and overseas.

COMMENCEMENT
AT GENERAL

Commencement at the
General Seminary is being held

NEW S

this week, May 22-24. Prof.
Stanley Brown-Serman of the
Virginia Seminary preached the
baccalaureate at a service Mon-
day evening and Prof. Frederick
C. Grant of Union Seminary,
Witness book editor, gave the
alumni address on *“preaching
value in the new translation of
the New Testament” on Tues-
day. The commencement ad-
dress on the 24th was by Prof.
Kirkpatrick Scott-Craig of Dart-
mouth.

B. B. COMER LILE (right) Rector, with O. V. T. CHAMBERLAIN,

Assistant, Christ Church, Alexandria.

The picture was taken at

the ground breaking -ceremonies for the new Parish Hall

Five
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EPISCOPAL CHURCH

OVER MILLION DOLLARS
FOR COLLEGE WORK

Bishop Hobson announced
at the convention of Southern
Ohio, meeting at Christ Church,
Cincinnati, that $1,095,000 had
been raised during the past year
for the diocesan building fund
for colleges. He stated also that
more than $183,000 had been
pledged for the national mis-
sionary work of the Church.
The announcement was the cli-
max of the diamond jubilee con-
vention which was attended by
350 delegates, as well as civic
leaders and visiting bishops.

A surprise event was a lunch-
eon, at which gifts were pre-
sented, marking the 20th anni-
versary of the consecration of
Bishop Hobson. A chorus of
clergy presented an original
musical appreciation in the style
of a Gilbert and Sullivan oper-
etta. The preacher at the anni-
versary service, held May 9, was
Bishop Barton of Eastern Ore-
gon, who is also the chairman
of The Witness advisory board.
Bishop Paul Matthews, retired
diocesan of New Jersey, was the
featured speaker at the banquet.

LAYMEN'S LEAGUE
HAS MEETING

The laymen’'s league of
Southwestern Virginia had its
annual meeting May 6 at St
John’s, Roanoke. The highlight
of the session was an address
by, Prof. E. M. McCrady of the
University of the South, who is
at present on loan to the atomic
energy commission at Oak
Ridge, Tenn. He said that, hap-
pily for him, his work is on
the constructive possibilities of
atomic energy, but he did dis-
cuss to some, extent its awful
possibilities, declaring that the
bombs dropped in Japan are now
completely out of date and can-
not even be compared with those
now possessed by the country.

Among his interesting state-
ments and epigrams were:

Six

“Years ago it used to be the
fashion for scientists to be
rather opposed to the Church.
In these days there is a larger
proportion of scientists who are
members of the Church than |
have ever known.” . . . “The
conception of the Church as the
body of Christ really came to
me through the biological ap-
proach.” . .. “The trouble about
Christianity in the lives of many
people is that it is tried in such
a half-hearted way.” . .. “It is
still a somewhat puzzling thing
that a supposedly Christian Ger-
many so easily went into Na-
zism.” . “Aside from my
regular work, a study of the re-
lation of science, philosophy and
religion is one of my chief and
most interesting activities.” . . .
“Christ did not say you have to
prove his divinity or the validity
of his commandments.” . . . “It
is- possible to be definitely re-
ligious without scientific infor-
mation. On the other hand sci-
ence is one of the most inspiring
bases of my own faith.”

RESOLUTIONS PROMPT
LIVELY DEBATE

Resolutions introduced at
the convention of the diocese of
Washington, held May 7-8,
caused lively debate. The con-
vention went on record as oppos-
ing the principle of federal
appropriations to parochial and
other private schools, except for
such social services as lunch-
eons, etc. It also adopted a
resolution for the elimination of
racial restrictions in the diocese
and community. It approved ef-
forts to bring DPs into the coun-
try but tabled a resolution favor-
ing home rule for the District
of Columbia on the grounds that
it is a political question.

Bishop Dun reported that in
1920, a year in which special
efforts for the national Church
were made, the diocese gave
$68,000; in 1949 the sum of $98,-
000 went to the National
Council.

NEW S

MELISH APPEAL
DENIED

The appellate division of
the Brooklyn supreme court has
refused the Rev. John Howard
Melish permission to reargue his
case or institute another appeal.
He has announced that he will
carry the case to the court of
appeals in Albany. Dr. Melish
was removed as rector of Holy
Trinity last year by Bishop De-
Wolfe, charged with supporting
the activities of his son and
assistant which were described
as “radical.”

At the convention of the dio-
cese, held at Garden City, May
16, the new vestry of Holy Trin-
ity, strongly pro-Melish, was
recognized and the delegates
from the parish were seated.

COMMENCEMENT AT
PHILADELPHIA

Commencement at the
Philadelphia Divinity School is
to be held May 30-June 1. Six-
teen graduates will receive di-
plomas at a service conducted by
Bishop Hart as the president of
the trustees. Honorary doctor-
ates are to be awarded to the
Rev. George Copeland, rector of
St. Peter’s, Weldon, Pa.; the
Rev. W. N. Parker, rector of
the Epiphany, Sherwood, Pa.;
and the Rev. Alfred M. Smith,
chaplain of the Philadelphia City
Mission Society.

The alumni essay will be by
the Rev. Herbert Satcher, rec-
tor of St. Aidan’s, Cheltenham,
Pa., and the commencement ad-
dress will be by Bishop Pardue
of Pittsburgh.

NEW INSTRUCTOR
AT SEABURY

Noah Fehl, fellow at the
University of Chicago, becomes
a part-time instructor in phi-
losophy at Seabury Western
Seminary in September. He will
also be director of Brent House,
center for work among Oriental
students at U. of C.
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CONVENTION OF
LONG ISLAND ,

Bishop DeWolfe, address-
ing the convention of Long
Island, meeting at Garden City-
May 16, condemned “a pagan
materialism which bids well to
destroy the modern world by
immorality, H-bombs, destruc-
tion and industrialism.”

He also opposed revision of
the Prayer Book which “almost
always causes controversy to
arise in the Church, and it would
seem unwise to disturb further
the minds and the life of our
people.”

He reported that since the last
convention the diocese had ex-
pended $425,000 for new build-
ings and capital repairs.

By the unanimous vote of the
800 delegates, the convention
agreed to permit three women
to serve on the diocesan council.
They are to serve however for
but one year, whereas the men
on the council serve three-year
terms. Another precedent was
established when the convention
met in joint session with the
Woman’'s Auxiliary.

PENNSYLVANIA HAS
CONVENTION

A record missionary bud-
get of $474,000 for 1951 was
voted at the convention of the
diocese of Pennsylvania, meet-
ing May 8 in Philadelphia. Ap-
proval was also given to the
raising of a special fund of
$400,000 to meet “long-deferred
capital needs of the diocese.” It
was announced that a 50-acre
estate has been given to the
diocese. It includes a house of
19 rooms and a swimming pool.
It will be used for conferences
and retreats.

NEW JERSEY HOLDS
CONVENTION

The convention of New
Jersey, eeting at Trenton,
adopted Ubudget of $172,000 for

1951, of which $96,000 is for the
National Council. Approval was
also given to Bishop Gardner's
proposal for a campaign next
year for $150,000 for advance
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work throughout the diocese.

A resolution was passed re-
affirming “the conviction of
General Convention that our
foreign policy should be so di-
rected as to support and
strengthen the United Nations”
and it called upon the U. S. gov-
ernment “to continue to explore
every avenue of possible recon-
ciliation with the Soviet Union,
within the framework of the
United Nations.”

Another resolution which was
approved called for the inclusion
of lay employees of the Church
in the federal social security
set-up.

CARLETON COLLEGE
CONFERENCE

The case for Christianity
was the theme for the faith and
action conference held at Carle-
ton College, Northfield, Minn.,
May 7-9, under the supervision
of the Rev. James Flint, dean
of the chapel. Guest speakers
were Prof. Elton Trueblood of
Earlham College; Rev. William
Young, Presbyterian of High-
land Park, 111.; Rev. Alan Watts,
Episcopal chaplain at North-
western; Prof. Daniel C. Wil-

liams of Chicago Theological
School.

The purpose of the confer-
ence was to investigate the na-
ture of the faith behind the
“good works”, which was dealt
with at a similar affair last
year. Speakers and students also
attempted to discover the justi-
fication for the claims of Chris-
tianity that it is the highest
belief known to man and offers
a solution to the problems that
harass humanity.

SPECIAL SERVICE
FOR NURSES

A service for practical
nurses was held May 7 in St
Paul’'s Cathedral, Detroit, pre-
ceded by a colorful procession of
several hundred nurses in uni-
form. The service was sponsored
jointly by the local council of

churches and the cathedral.

THE PICTURE ON
THE COVER w

Parishioners of Christ
Church, Alexandria, do not still
wear pre-Revolutionary clothes.
The cover picture was taken, in
connection with Alexandria’s bi-
centennial celebration last year
—hence the costumes.

GEORGE WASHINGTON family pew in old Christ Church, Alex-
andria, Virginia, still used just as it was when the church was

completed in 1773

Seven
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EPISCOPAL CHURCH

HENRY DARLINGTON
IS HONORED

Parishioners and friends
met in the parish house of the
Church of the Heavenly Rest,
New York, on May 14 following
the morning service, to honor
the retiring rector, the Rev.
Henry Darlington.

A special presentation on be-
half of the congregation was
made by Clarence G. Michalis,
senior warden. Mr. Michalis
read from a- set of resolutions
adopted by the vestry at a meet-
ing in December: “It would be
difficult to put into words the
affection, admiration and deep
appreciation of those to whom
he has so faithfully ministered
for more than a quarter of a
century.”

The gifts included a check, a
new automobile and an inscribed
watch. “These tokens,” Mr.
Michalis continued, “are accom-
panied by the wish, that the
years which lie ahead may be
filled with all the good health
and happiness which he so rich-
ly deserves.”

“The real test of our affec-
tion,” he concluded, “lies in how
we carry on the spiritual work
to which he has given so much
of his life. There is the real
test of your devotion and affec-
tion to him.”

Darlington thanked and
blessed the parishioners and
urged them to “transfer every-
thing” to the Rev. John Ellis
Large, who will succeed him as
rector June 1.

DEAN SWEET WANTS
MORE PLANNING

Dean Sidney E. Sweet of
St. Louis, addressing the Cin-
cinnati Council of Churches,
said that Christianity is not a
dominant enough factor in city
life. “There are too many sub-
sidized small churches, with in-
adequate equipment and in-
efficient leadership,” he de-
clared. He maintained that sub-

Eight

sidies may be justified for
churches in underprivileged
areas, downtown areas and col-
lege towns, “but where neigh-
borhood churches are subsidized
for years and serve only a small
group, the subsidies are an ac-
tual misuse of Christian funds.”
All denominations, he said,
should agree to locate or re-
locate churches only with the
advice and consent of commit-
tees representing all of them.

DAY OF PRAYER
FOR PEACE

Carl M. Saunders, editor
of the Qitizen-Patriot, daily
newspaper of Jackson, Mich,,
won the Pulitzer Prize for an
editorial urging the designation
of Memorial Day as a day of
national prayer for peace. It is
believed probable that Congress
will continue to make this spe-
cial designation annually. The
first day so observed was Me-
morial Day, 1949.

Mr. Saunders is a member of
the current confirmation class
at St. Paul’'s Church, Jackson, of
which the Rev. Howard V.
Harper is rector.

PREACHING MISSION

IN PARIS
The six American and
British churches in Paris,

France, sponsored a preaching
mission, May 7-10, with the
Rev. Bryan Green of England
the preacher. The chairman
was Dean Sturgis Lee Riddle,
dean of the American Pro-
Cathedral of the Holy Trinity.
It marked the first time that all
the English speaking churches
in the city have united in spon-
soring a «eligious program.

LAYREADERS SERVICE
IN PITTSBURGH

More than 175 layreaders
of the diocese of Pittsburgh at-
tended a service on May 14 at
the Ascension, Pittsburgh. The
preacher was Bishop Pardue.

NEW S

UNIT OF RESEARCH
AND FIELD STUDY

The Rev. George A. Wie-
land, director of the home de-
partment of the National Coun-
cil, has announced the setting
up of a unit of research and
field study. “From diocese and
district alike,” Wieland said,
“has come the demand for guid-
ance, direction and actual super-
vision of survey needs. We have
been building up the skills and
facilities necessary to meet
those demands. There is no pos-
sible way in which we can meet
all of the requests for this serv-
ice in the immediate future. We
shall need to establish priorities
in order to avoid too crowded a
schedule. We shall need to have
complete cooperation from the
diocese or district requesting
such a study. We shall need to
have a clear understanding as
to the purposes and objectives
of any survey we undertake.

“The major purpose of any
study of this sort as we see it,
is to know the facts. Until we
know factually where we are
now, it is difficult, if not im-
possible, to chart an intelligent
course for the future. Once we
know the facts and the histori-
cal background which produced
them we are ready to move for-
ward. Gains and losses, suc-
cesses and failures, present
needs and opportunities, are all
significant. Once we have the
facts the road ahead is easier
to define. No study has real
value until it becomes the foun-
dation of a strategic program of
development and growth.”

Wieland explained that offi-
cial arrangement by the bishop
and council of the convention of
a diocese is required before any
study of such diocese will be
made; that aims and objectives
of the study shall be worked
out, a local committee appointed,
a budget or appropriation to
cover expense shall be provided,

Continued on Page Twenty-one
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EDITORIALS

Bulwark of Freedom

TTHE fact of the Ascension, like the doctrine of
* the Trinity, is a great bulwark of human free-
dom. The concept of and the belief in the Holy
Trinity is a profound symbol of the nature of the
incentives and the quality of the thought of men
who believe in and will fight for liberty. But the
Ascension was a specific event, both physical and
spiritual in its nature, taking place in a remote
comer of the Roman Empire, which, in itself,
made over both men and nations.

For the Ascension of our Lord means the ex-
tending to universal world
scope of the healing, renew-
ing impact of Jesus of Naza-
reth on a few Palestine peas-
ants. What he did to the
lepers and madmen and to

suicide as the natural and logical way out when

life had ceased to thrill or satisfy, and child-

murder when the unwanted or ill-formed infant

threatened to be an uncomfortable family or com-

munity problem—were extirpated from respect-

able society and, in their place, hospitals and

asylums were created and developed as the ex-

pression of the spirit of the Christian fellowship
by the dominating power of the ascended Lord.

The fact of the Ascension of Christ is the

basis of the Christian confidence that human

nature can be radically changed and that Chris-

tian incentives in civilization are even more

creative and effective in the

building of institutions than

are pagan incentives. Poli-

ticians and industrialists not-

withstanding, acquisitiveness

is not the one successful in-

Mary Magdelene, Zacchaeus "QUOTES" centive to economic activity.
and Lazarus before Good Fri- The ideals and working stand-
day and to Peter and the rest ards of the army and navy
of the Apostles after Easter, THE advanc_e of civi_lization is mea_ls- and the professions are alone
he has done and is doing ured -by its self-imposed restric- sufficient to prove it, without

around the world ever since. tions."

The Ascension of Christ is
the universalizing of revolu-
tion.

Wherever conservative or
sophisticated or timid folk
gather today, one is certain
to hear sooner or later, as an
argument against change—
whether of character or of in-
stitutions — the mournful
cliche: “You can't change hu-
man nature.” The really basic
answer to such an argument
is, of course, the fact of the
Ascension. The truly human nature of our Lord
has been exalted to eternal dominion, by virtue
of which he has been changing our individual
human natures ever since (whenever we let him
in) and has been transforming human institu-
tions and civilizations throughout the course of
Christian history—which the specious tenets of
“neo-orthodoxy” have stubbornly failed to
recognize.

For typical examples of institutional transfor-
mation: in the early Christian fellowship, when
the Church was coming to grips with the dis-
integrating empire of Rome, two firmly estab-
lished institutions in the culture of that day—

tion.
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Already today, such re-
strictions for the sake of the social
welfare are thickening on every hand.
In countless matters the enlightened
conscience is limiting its prerogatives,
in that spirit of joy which transforms
sacrifice from mutilation to redemp-

—VIDA D. SCUDDER

going further afield for evi-
dence in -socialized nations.
Personal or national self-
interest is not the creative
motive for successful and
joyous living. Mothers, lov-
ers, physicians, “martyrs of
science,”, genuine teachers,
priests, missionaries are all
witnesses to the contrary.
Self-giving alone is truly cre-
ative. War and dependence
on armed might is not the
one successful method of de-
fense against aggression and
injustice. The life and accomplishments of Mo-
handas Gandhi are evidence of the effectiveness
of another and better way. But all these Chris-
tian incentives require a profound change in the
nature of the “Old Adam,” the animal man, and
in his institutions, before they can become suc-
cessful, working forces in the -world.

Today, as in all earlier Christian eras, every
sinful human individual and every imperfect and
unjust institution is a candidate for beneficent
and radical changes by the power of the ascended
Lord of life. But intelligent and devout Chris-
tians are of all men most fortunate in that they
actually live in the very family and fellowship of

Nine
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Jesus, where they may know and touch the incar-
nate God, spiritually and sacramentally present
with them, the same mighty God whose ascended
life has power to transform the world. This ought
to mean for all of us the privilege and duty of
constant acts of will, in prayer and meditation
and communion, whereby we shall grow both in
knowledge (of his nature and our own) and in
power (the power he has given us to become the
sons of God) so that, in heightened awareness of
our divine resources, we may do our part with
him in turning the world upside down, in order
that it may one day be set rightside up before his
face.

The Cocktail Party

HE Nicene Creed makes a point of telling us
that the Holy Ghost spoke through men who

were not baptized nor confirmed—the prophets.
This should bring encouragement to some of us
who feel that the Holy Spirit does not speak with
one clear voice through the Church, for the
prophets were not notoriously of one mind with
one another. It should also bring encouragement
to all of us in these strange days when men seem
to be listening for the word of the Spirit, but do
not seem to care whether it is an orthodox word
or not. The success of the sale of religious books
and “religious” books (there is a difference) is
one indication of this.

The success of Mr. Eliot's play, “The Cocktail
Party,” is another. It is being attended by a
great many people who think they should, and
their relief at finding that it is really rather good
theatre is quite obvious. They are prepared for
the pill without any sugar coating.

Outside of a rather dilletante discussion, over
the cocktails and potato chips, of the crucifixion
of one of the characters in the play, there are two
bits of obvious unreality. One is when an ama-
teur cook, having left for the kitchen to whip up
something for supper out of nothing (and only
eggs in the house, mind you; not a single mangoe
or a single pinch of curry powder) appears two
minutes later and indicates that the job is done.
The other is when a psychiatrist straightened out
three lives in three ten-minute interviews. We
gather that he does it by means of informers, but
the average psychiatrist will think he did it with
mirrors, and will dread the possibility of people
calling him up and expecting to get similar help
in the time it takes to get a hair cut.

There is a refrain running through the play:
“I'm not the same person | was twenty-four hours
ago.” This does not remind one of life as it
really is. It does not remind one of St. Paul,

Ten

whose “sudden” conversion must have been pre-
ceded by many uncomfortable attitudes, even
though some of them were unconscious; and
whose conversion was followed by some years of
silent readjustment. It is rather unfortunately
reminiscent of the time when college girls and
junior leaguers were witnessing to the fact that
this or than interview had so changed them they
hardly recognized themselves.

There is no denying, however, that the play
encourages, as well as commends, a serious view
of life. Moreover it points up an idea that psy-
chiatrists are beginning to consider with sur-
prised approval: the idea that if we had more
monasteries and convents we should have fewer
mental hospitals.

The Holy Spirit speaks through strange
media, even through a play called “The Cocktail
Party.” This we can remember. But we should
also remember, lest we build false hopes and be
disillusioned, that he works little by little, here
a little, there a little, by gradualness, by growth
that seems glacier-slow while it is happening.

Historic Christ Church

ARTICLES and pictures in this number tell part
of the story of historic Christ Church, Alex-
andria; Virginia. But it is because the parish
has more than a glorious past that we give space
to it. Under the leadership of the Rev. B. B.
Comer Lile and his associate, the Rev. Oren
Chamberlain, together with an alert and hard-
working congregation, the parish has had a re-
markable growth all along the line. The parish
house, now under construction at a cost of close
to $200,000, is symbolic of this fact. A shrine,
truly, and visited as such by thousands of Ameri-
cans each year; but in addition, a large and grow-
ing parish with leaders who have the wisdom to
provide for the needs of .today and of the future.

We congratulate the clergy and people of
Christ Church, and present the story as fully as
our space will allow since we believe the Church
as a whole will be inspired by this example of a
historic parish squarely facing the challenge of
present day opportunities.

FOR THE DAYS AHEAD

GOD, who art the strength of thy people in
every moment of need; Grant us so to pass
through the coming days with faithful hearts
and unfaltering purpose, that we may in all
things prove worthy of the gift of thy Son, and
bring the light of encouragement to our fellow-

men; through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

—Forward, summer 1950
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*]*HE congregation of Christ Church, Alexandria,
* had its beginning sometime prior to 1752,
which was three years after the establishment
of the town. The minutes of the vestry of Truro
Parish for July 1752 refer to the need of repairs
for the church in Alexandria, which is an indica-
tion that the first building had been in use for
some time, probably long prior to the founding of
the town itself. In 1764, the vestry of Truro
Parish, of which Colonel George Washington was
a member, saw the need for the establishment of
a new parish which would include the congre-
gations of the Alexandria church and The Falls
church. In 1765 the new parish, given the name
of “Fairfax Parish” was established. At the
first vestry election, Colonel Washington was
among those chosen. However, due to the fact
that his principal residence was in the bounds of
the older Truro Parish, he never exercised his
rights as a vestryman of Fairfax Parish.

In 1767 the vestry entered into a contract with
James Parsons to build the present building of
Christ Church at & cost of 600 pounds. The archi-
tect was James Wren, one of the vestrymen of
the parish and a cousin of Sir Christopher Wren.
Because of the business failure of Mr. Parsons
and his inability to complete the church building,
the task of finishing it was turned over to Mr.
John Carlyle who completed the building early
in 1773. On February 27th, 1773 the vestry
accepted the church as “finished in workmanlike
order.” Since that day this building has been in
constant and continuous use as a house of wor-
ship. General George Washington was one of
the original pew-holders and paid the highest
price that was paid for any of the pews, namely
36 pounds, 10 shillings. In the very shadows of
Christ Church one Sunday morning in 1774, sur-
rounded by the congregation, everyone of whom
he knew well, Washington advocated withdraw-
ing allegiance from King George and declared
that he would fight to uphold the independence
of the Colonies. Nine years later, after the inde-
pendence had been successfully established, he
returned to Mount Vernon on Christmas Eve.
The next morning he was back in his accustomed
pew in Christ Church to receive his Christmas
communion and to hear his rector, the Rev. David
Griffith, proclaim that peace and good will
reigned once more in the land. It is said that no
one in the church that morning bowed in deeper
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gratitude than did the great General as he
thanked God for victory and peace.

On April 25th, 1785, George Washington and
other prominent laymen of Fairfax Parish met
in Alexandria and signed a contract binding
“themselves, their heirs, executors, administra-
tors, and assigns” to pay annually to the minister
and vestry of the Protestant Episcopal Church in
Alexandria the sum of 5 pounds for each pew
assigned to them. George Washington’s well
known signature is appended to this original con-
tract which is still preserved in the old minute
book of the parish vestry. Christ Church is
fortunate in having the minutes of all vestry
meetings of the parish from August 26th, 1765
down through the most recent meeting which was
May 8th, 1950. General Washington was very
regular in his attendance at Christ Church from
the time of the end of the Revolution until his
death in 1799. During this entire time Pohick
Church, Truro Parish, with which he had been

NORTH DOOR of Christ Church. On January 1,
1942, the Presidential car brought President Roose-
velt and Prime Minister Winston Churchill to this
door to attend services

Eleven
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closely associated before the war, was not open
for services. The Rev. Thomas Davis, who was
rector of Christ Church from 1792 to 1806, con-
ducted General Washington's funeral at the re-
quest of Mrs. Washington at Mount Vernon on
December 16th, 1799. Five years later, on April
12, 1804, George Washington Parke Custis,
adopted son of General Washington, presented to
Christ Church “The family Bible of General
Washington used at Mount Vernon." This Bible
is still in the possession of the church and is
shown on special occasions.

Chaplain Becomes Rector

HE Rev. David Griffith, former chaplain in

the Continental Army and an intimate friend
and spiritual advisor of General Washington, be-
came the rector in 1779 and served until his death
in 1789. During this period he played a very
important part in the establishment of the Prot-
estant Episcopal Church in the United States. In
1786, the clergy and laity of the diocese of Vir-
ginia elected him to be their first bishop, but
because of the financially depressed condition of
the Church he was unable to go to England to
receive consecration. He died in Philadelphia in
1789 while serving as delegate from Virginia to
the first General Convention of the Church.

The Rev. Bryan Fairfax succeeded Dr. Griffith

as rector and served until 1792 when he inherited.

a seat in the House of Lords of the British Par-
liament. In 1793 he went to England and estab-
lished his rights as the Eighth Lord Fairfax,
Baron of Cameron. After six years in England
he returned to Mount Eagle, the colonial resi-
dence of the Lords Fairfax, which is just outside
Alexandria. Bryan Fairfax the Tory, and George
Washington the leader of the Revolution, re-
mained close personal friends in spite of their
political differences. It is believed that the last
time that George Washington filled a social
engagement was when he had dinner with Bryan
Fairfax a few days before his death in December,
1799.

The Rev. William Meade was rector from 1811
to 1813. His unbounded energy and evangelical
zeal accomplished much for Christ Church and
for the re-birth of the Church in Virginia. He
was consecrated bishop in 1829. His great epis-
copate in the diocese lasted until his death in
1862.

The Rev. Reuel Keith was rector from 1825 to
1827. He was the first professor of the Virginia
Theological Seminary in Alexandria and played
an important part in, the early life of this great
evangelical institution which was founded and
housed at that time only a few doors from Christ
churchyard. It was the Rev. Dr. Keith who
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solemnized the marriage of Lt. Robert Edward
Lee and Mary Custis at Arlington mansion.
Robert E, Lee

IATHEN Robert E. Lee was three years old his
Pl family came to live at 611 Cameron Street
in Alexandria which is two doors from Christ
churchyard. As a child he played in the church-
yard and in the rectory yard and was closely
associated with the life of Christ Church. Lee
was not confirmed during his youth. When he
was forty-six years old, having attained the rank
of Colonel in the U. S. Army and while serving
as superintendent of the U. S. Military Academy
at West Point, he received the Apostolic rite of
confirmation at the hands of the Rt. Rev. John
Johns, then bishop coadjutor of Virginia. At this
service which took place in Christ Church, July
17th, 1853, Colonel Lee knelt between two of his
daughters who were confirmed with him. A small
silver plate in the communion rail marks where
he knelt. While in residence at Arlington man-
sion, a few miles from Alexandria, General Lee
regularly attended services at Christ Church.
One Sunday morning in April 1861, Lee drove as
usual from Arlington to attend the service at
Christ Church. He had previously resigned his
commission in the Federal Army. At the conclu-
sion of the service he was approached by a com-
mittee of Virginia leaders from Richmond who
offered him command of the Army of Virginia
which led to his eventual selection as head of the
Army of the Confederacy. Federal troops occu-
pied Alexandria during the War between the
States and Christ Church was used as the Post
Chapel of the occupying forces. In 1866 the
church was restored to its old vestry.

A significant fact about Christ Church is that
the building has never been radically changed.
The only exterior change is the addition of the
tower in 1818. The only structural change in the
interior is the addition .of the gallery in 1786.
However, the gallery was a part of the original
plan. Beginning in 1820 the square pews were
altered to face forward. George Washington’'s
pew, No. 60, is the only pew which retains its
original shape.

Almost every President of the United States
has worshipped in Christ Church. Traditionally,
the President sits in the Washington pew. Much
could be written about the many great spiritual
leaders and consecrated laymen who have served
and worshipped here but space does not permit
the telling of their stories. The doors of this
church have been continuously open for 177 years
and it is not an exaggeration to say that this
house of God has been an influence and a witness
for Christ to millions of people.
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How Christ Church Raised
Its Building Fund

TN inaugurating the building fund campaign, the

vestry of Christ Church elected its senior
warden, Mr. Gardner L. Boothe, to be the general
chairman and Mr. Robert J. Johnson, a communi-
cant who had proven himself to be an able leader
in church promotion, to be the campaign director.
The vestry itself served .as the committee on
plans and policy and appointed able members of

CHOIR BOYS receive their shovels for the Parish
Hall ground breaking ceremony

the congregation to be responsible for enlisting
workers, publicity, training workers, printing and
listing, assignment of prospects and volunteer
secretarial assistance. Leaders were also chosen
by the vestry to head the four divisions of work-
ers, namely: the special gifts division, the wom-
en’s division, the men’s division, and the church
school division. Each division head chose three
captains whose duties included enlisting can-
Vassers.

The clergy, with the assistance of three com-
municants who are professionals in the fields of
printing, engraving, photography, and layout,
produced a twenty page brochure which set forth
clearly the need of a new parish hall, described
the proposed building, and the obligation and
opportunity of the people to provide the answer.
The goal that was set before the cohgregation
was “At least 3% of your income for three years.”
Members were given the choice of making pledges
payable on an annual, semi-annual, quarterly,
monthly, weekly, or lump sum basis. The liber-
ally illustrated brochure pointed out the oppor-
tunity for giving parts of the building as special
memorials and described “The Book of Remem-
brance” in which will be recorded the name of
every donor and the name of every person in
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whose memory a gift is made. This provision
is appropriate since the building is to be called
“Christ Church Memorial Parish Hall.”

One hundred thirty canvassers were enlisted.
They were trained in one week under the leader-
ship of the campaign director in three evening
sessions. The following week, division heads met
their groups and the canvassers were given their
prospect cards. Each worker was assigned to
make four calls and to canvass a fellow worker
as a practice call. The final workers’ meeting
was the “kick-off dinner” at which brief addresses
were made by Bishop Frederick D. Goodwin of
the diocese of Virginia, the clergy and the cam-
paign leaders.

Most of the calls were made on a Sunday after-
noon and that evening the workers reported to
captains and division leaders who were assembled
in thé Parish Hall. Some follow-up was necessary
for those who were not reached on the first day.
When the campaign closed $108,000 had been
pledged and the new Christ Church Memorial
Parish Piali was assured.

How Parish Hall
W as Planned

I"OR many years the clergy and congregation of
w  Christ Church have known of the need for a
new parish hall. Three years ago their awareness
of the need led the annual congregational meeting
to ask the vestry to select a ways and means com-
mittee to plan and promote the building of a new
and adequate parish hall. This committee was
comprised of members of the vestry, representa-,
tives of all parish organizations, and experts in
construction. They divided into sub-committees

NEW CHRIST CHURCH Memorial
drawn by Milton L. Grigg, architect

Parish Hall,
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to study the needs of every phase of the parish
life. Since only one appropriate building site was
available in the churchyard, and the cost of
adjoining property was prohibitive, it was very
important that this building provide for the
maximum needs of the parish in the foreseeable
future. After six months of study the sub-
committee pooled their findings. On the basis of
this information, preliminary floor plans were
drawn showing the proposed location of the vari-
ous facilities and approximate dimensions.

These preliminary floor plans were then turned
over to the architect, Mr. Milton L. Grigg of
Charlottesville and Alexandria, Virginia, who
used them as the basis for his preliminary draw-
ings. The congregational meeting approved these

plans in principle and they were then presented
to all the various groups within the parish life,
for specific suggestions and criticism. This was
very helpful to the architect and the vestry in
obtaining a better plan. Everyone in the con-
gregation was then invited to a “last chance”
meeting for the purpose of receiving all possible
constructive criticism. Using the helpful sugges-
tions which came out of this meeting, the archi-
tect drew the final plans.

Construction on the new building is well under
way. The building committee is composed pf Mr.
Gardner L. Boothe, Mr. Erdman T. Stulz, Mr.
Clarence J. Robinson, Colonel Presley M. Rixey,
USMC, ret'd. and the Rev. B. B. Comer Lile,
rector.

Gardening, God and Ourselves

LIGIOUS thoughts inspired by farm life run

all through the Bible. The Jews had orig-
inally been a race of herdsmen without settled
farms. When they settled in Palestine the change
in their mode of living created a cultural and
spiritual tension which made their religion one
of the great religions of the world, although they
were a very small nation and a poor one.

The message of the prophets and of some of
the historians of the Jews might be summed up
in the phrase “To the joy of the farmers’ religion
you must add the justice of the desert religion.”
Varied examples of this tension are numerous.

It has been said that the Bible is a book that
begins with God walking in a garden in the cool
of the day—the Garden of Eden—and ends in a
city—the new Jerusalem in heaven. But the city
it ends in is not a grimy mill town—"its gardens
and. its gallant walks continually are green, where
grow such sweet and pleasant flowers as nowhere
else are seen.”

As we look about us the silent green life which
surrounds us is telling us about the being who
made it. It tells us about the quiet power of
God. Life springs up everywhere, and its seem-
ingly gentle force is irresistible.

Over there is an old rock.
nothing could grow on rock. But it is covered
with a simple plant life called lichen. At the
sides of the rock lichen has caught pine needles
and bits of dust and straw and dead leaves, and
so now even the grass has a foothold. Some day
that rock will be covered with vegetation.

One would think
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By HUGH McCANDLESS
Rector of the Epiphany, New York

Even in the city, bits of dirt collect in the
crevices of buildings, and sooner or later there
is a bit of green in the most unlikely place.

The power of life is gentle, but it is indeed
irresistible. You have all seen pictures of great
rocks which have been split by saplings growing
through them. Daffodils have been known to
grow right through thin layers of asphalt. You
know how soon paths become overgrown unless
they are constantly tended. And time after time
one must cut out trees if he wants to keep a view
open. Otherwise everything is hidden with a veil
of leaves. This shows the power of life, and the
power of life is only a part of the power of God.

Revelation of Ourselves

A NOTHER revelation of God in gardening is
*** really a revelation pf ourselves. We like to
create, we like to share in God’s creation. That
is why everyone likes to grow, things, because it
is one of our family likenesses with God our
father.

Another revelation is in the mystery and com-
plexity of life. Indian corn, for example, cannot
go on living without the help of man. It cannot
pollinate and reproduce itself. No one knows
how it was that the people of Central America
were able to domesticate some wild plant so that
now it cannot live without its master. And yet
great Mayan civilizations were built only on the
wealth of corn fields, and no one knows the
answer to the mystery.

A tree may seem a still and lifeless sort of
thing when the air is still, and its branches do
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not move, and yet the tree is full of life coursing
up and down its trunk. Each leaf is composed of
thousands and thousands of minute square cells
and each cell has at its edges a tiny waterway
and little particles float continually around the
cell. When you first see this under a microscope
you can hardly believe your eyes.

Gardening also tells us some useful things
about the growth of our own souls. One of these
is the necessity for occasional destruction, if we
want to create. If we want to grow flowers, we
must uproot weeds. Even Albert Schweitzer,
who carries “reverence for life” to an extreme
point, describes himself as a mass murderer be-
cause as a doctor he must destroy many harmful
germs. The gardener must destroy slugs
and aphids and cutworms in order to create more
useful life.

We must uproot and stamp out some things in
our souls if we want better things to grow there.
Life cannot always be merely the doing of things
we want to do—sometimes we must weed out our
desires and impulses.

Fertilizing a garden is no good unless you weed
it too. And in the, same way, our lives need not
only opportunities to grow, but discipline in order
to grow well.

Another thing we learn is the way weeds seem
to imitate useful plants. Chickweed pretends it’s
carrots or marigolds, parsley can look very like
petunias, portulaca, or nasturtiums!

Weeds are tough and versatile, and so are our
sins. A bad temper can masquerade as a sense
of justice; a mean streak cries out “Don’'t uproot
me; | am a sense of humor.” Laziness calls itself
serenity, and idle curiosity sometimes claims to
be friendly interest!

Another lesson is that the best and rarest
plants take hard work. Petunias seem to jump
up anywhere. But with a plant like Gerbera you
have to prepare the soil for weeks. After trying
to grow Gerbera you certainly get the point of
our Lord’s parable of the soils. (St. Matthew
13:3-23).

One last lesson was pointed out by Rudyard
Kipling: “The best work a gardener does is done
upon”his knees.”

Knock! Knock!

By PHILIP H. STEINMETZ
Rector of the Ashfield Parishes

AYER begins with God's knocking at our
door rather than with our sending application
for his favor. He shows us what is good and
then we respond by seeking it. If God ceased
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seeking us, there would be no more prayer, just
as there would be no color without light.

While it begins with God, prayer continues in
our response. We have to answer the knock for
a visit to take place. Otherwise all the caller can
do is leave his card and go. We must drop what
we are doing and answer and listen to God if we
are to know real prayer.

Then things happen. We begin to learn that
the big idea of life is not to be happy but to be
devoted children of God. We slowly come to see
how his children behave and we get a taste of the
special joy he gives them. It is compounded of
serenity and love. It is with us in suffering and
through death. It eludes adequate description.

No one can keep it to himself. Immediately it
pours out into action. It is like the heat you put
into a pot of boiling water. There is no keeping
it there. It has to escape in steam and, if there
is food in the pot, into the delicious odors of cook-
ing until the house and neighborhood is filled.

So God comes to us, knocking, flows into us and
out through us into acts of service and praise,
bringing with him joy and peace which Ilast
through the suffering and sorrow which are a
part of every life.

Will you take time to answer the knocking at
your door?

i
Orders are now being taken for

Y e

|
i
| A Cook Book from 1
|
! CHRIST CHURCH ]
i (The Church of the Washington, Lee,
| and other great Virginia families) $
. |
'_ ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA j
| ~
|
! . |
! $2.00 per copy .Jl
'i Published by $
s The Deitz Press |
N Richmond, Virginia
|
Send orders to P. 0. Box 144, Alexandria, |
Va. Books will be sent when off the
§ Press about Oct. 1, 1950. f
{ !
]
K '
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Old Club Tea House ABEANCRA VRANA

(Once George Washington's Club) “Home Town of

George Washington”
Welcomes You

A trip to George- Washington’s Old Club
is a Must for Alexandria Visitors.

See the Many
HISTORIC BUILDINGS
Close by is
Open Daily and Sundays — 12 Noon to THE NATION'S CAPITOL
BEAUTIFUL MOUNT VERNON

GUNSTON HALL
WOODLAWN

(Send for literature)

8:30 P. M. for Luncheons vand Dinners.

555 South Washington Street .
. . |
on Mount Vernon Memorial Highway ALEXANDRIA CHAMBER of COMMERCE j
six blocks south of Christ Church. ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA

" — /

PETER GORDON CO. !

|
; COWLES CONSTRUCTION |
1
| -
l . Lo COMPANY !
Waterproofing
j Engineers & Contractors
] Basements -- Exteriors
f Concrete Floors o
joi
| Asphalt BUILDERS
] Damp-proofing L
i P
j -
\ TOwer 5454
\ 8903 48th Avenue ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA !

COLLEGE PARK, MD. :

—
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NEWS OF OTHER CHURCHES

DETROIT CONFERENCE
URGES PEACE

The conference on the Church and
war, held in Detroit and reported in
The Witness last week, passed a nhum-
ber of timely resolutions on the clos-
ing day, May 11. The Churches were
urged to completely repudiate war
and “to repent their past involve-
ments in the sins of national war-
fare.” The Churches were urged to
support demands for a U. N. world
conference “to consider not only the
outlawing of the atom and hydrogen
bombs but to press for universal dis-
armament.”

The statement declared that “Com-
munist leaders have risen to power
because they have linked their ideol-
ogy with the drive for national free-
dom and economic betterment. A
positive  demonstration of Chris-
tianity in social and economic terms
is the most effective answer to the
appeal which Communism makes to
desperate multitudes in all parts of
the world.”

In the economic area, the delegates
favored a middle-way of private, pub-
lic and cooperative ownership “which
will embody both personal freedom
and social justice, and which will in-
corporate the peaceful cooperative
motive and method and eliminate the
warring = competitive motive and
method which causes internal indus-
trial conflicts and leads to inter-
national political conflict.”

On civil liberties the statement de-
clared that they must not “be
abridged by legal or extra-legal meas-
ures such as special loyalty oaths,
guilt by association, over-emphasis on
secrecy, the chaining of scientific re-
search to military ends, threats to
academic freedom, Congressional im-
munity for unsubstantiated charges,
or the attempt to proscribe political
parties as such. Freedom for politi-
cal and religious dissent and for the
expression of unorthodox opinions
must be protected both by laws and
by an informed and courageous public
opinion.”

There were about 400 delegates,
representing most of the Protestant
Churches, attending the four-day
conference.

RECOGNITION OF CHINA IS
URGED BY MISSIONARIES

Early American recognition of
China’s Communist government was
urged in a memorandum addressed to
Secretary of State Acheson by 68
Protestant churchmen, most of them
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associated with mission work in

China.

“Recognition of the People’s Repub-
lic,” the memorandum said, “would
provide a way of carrying on relations
between the United States and China
without implying on the part of our
country approval of the Chinese gov-
ernment’s philosophy or ideology. This
is in line with the principle already
followed by our government in regard
to certain other nations.”

The churchmen declared that “re-
liable information indicates that a
majority of American missionaries in
China desire to have our country
recognize the present government.”

“It is evident that if the United
States is to hold its place in Asia,”
the memorandum said, “we must be
constantly aware of the longings and
aspirations of the common people in
all lands and shape our policy so as
to aid in every proper way the fulfill-
ment of these hopes. Recognition of
the People’s government of China
would clearly show that the American
government is not to be understood
as opposing needed changes.

“Christian missions, which, in addi-
tion to evangelism, comprise a broad
program of medical, educational, so-
cial and relief work,” the memoran-
dum went on, “operate within the
framework of the People’s Republic,
but non-recognition tends to militate
against the carrying on of such work
by Americans.”

Among the signers of the statement,
which was also addressed to the chair-

9,134 Copies

men of the Senate foreign relations
committee and the House committee
for foreign affairs, were Wynn C.
Fairfield, secretary of the Foreign
Missions Conference; Rowland Cross,
secretary of the China committee of
the FMC and J. W. Decker, a secre-
tary of the International Missionary
Council.

CHURCH-GOING STUDENTS
FOUND MORE TOLERANT

A tendency for church-going college
students to be more “democratic” than
non-church-goers in their feelings to-
ward other races is revealed in a sur-
vey just completedlby two university
psychologists. Several hundred stu-
dents from Louisiana, Florida, and
Alabama were studied by E. Terry
Prothro, associate professor of psy-
chology at the University of Tennes-
see, and John A. Jenson of the psy-
chology staff at Alabama Polytechnic
Institute. Purpose of the study was
to determine whether there is any
relationship between attitudes toward
various minority groups and attitudes
toward the Church.

The two psychologists found that
there seems to be such a thing as an
“anti - democratic personality.” Stu-
dents prejudiced toward one minority
group were usually prejudiced toward
another. Students favorable to one
group were favorably disposed toward
all.

The same attitudes are indicated
among the minority groups them-
selves. A preliminary study of Negro
college students suggests that church-
goers tend to be more “democratic”
toward whites and other races than
those who stay away from church.

‘Chapters in Church History’

$1.50

Order Your Copy Today

Clergy: Ask for
attractive free
descriptive folder
to distribute to
your people.

The National Council -
281 Fourth Avenue -

Episcopal Church
New York 10, N. VY.
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THE NEW BOOKS

FREDERICK C. GRANT, Boob Editor

Christianity and Society. By Nels F.
S. Ferre. Harpers. . $3.75.

Nels Ferre has proved himself to be
one of the most wide-ranging minds
and one of the most devout thinkers
among American Christians. This is
the third volume in a series on Chris-
tian theology. It deals with the theo-
logical foundations of Christian social
ethics. Ferre combines a radical
Christian vision with unusual dis-
crimination on concrete issues. He is
drawn to both Christian pacifism and
Christian socialism but he is not doc-
trinaire or a'bsolutistic in discussing
either. His theology is free from the
tendency to emphasize discontinuities
that is so common today and yet he
recognizes real differences. He does
justice to the level of creation which
he identifies with “the Spirit of God”
and to the level of redemption which
he identifies with “the Holy Spirit.”
He seems to me to ignore some of
the difficulties in relating Christian

agape to the social order but he is
moving toward a more realistic posi-
tion on this matter. He has not made
the reader’s job an easy one but any-
one who reads the fifth chapter on
“The Distinctive Dimension of Chris-
tian Social Action” will come close to
the heart of his thought and may be
tempted to read the book as a whole.
—JOHN C. BENNETT

The Tree of Life. By David K. Mont-
gomery. Morehouse-Gorham. &
An exposition of the seven sacra-
ments, written simply, with feeling
and understanding, and with some
telling illustrations, by the Dean of
St.  Paul's Cathedral, Springfield,
Ilinois.—C. C. RICHARDSON.

Eternal Values in Religion. By James
Bissett Pratt. Macmillan. $2.00.

A posthumous publication of the dis-

tinguished Professor of Religious Psy-

chology at Williams College. Dr. Pratt

O. R EVANS & BRO. Inc.

LIGHTING FIXTURES
and
ART BRONZES

1328 Eye Street, N.W.
WASHINGTON, D. C.

O. R. EVANS

President
P. A. DAVIS

V. President
E. L. EVANS

Secy. & Treas.

GET

PHONES:
NATIONAL 0761
0762
" 0763

THEWITNESS EVERY WEEK

If The Witness is not mailed to your home every week, fill out the
form below and send it at once.

The Witness, Tunkhannock, Pemna.
For the $4.00 enclosed send The Witness for a year to:

Name ....... B e e e .
Street

Eighteen

writes with lucidity on a number of
aspects of religious experience. The
opening chapters on the psychology
and justification of worship are par-
ticularly rewarding.

—C. C. RICHARDSON

Prayers from Father Andrew. More-
house-Gorham.  75c.

A simple little prayer book, con-
taining prayers for personal and pub-
lic use. For example: “For All in
Authority”—Grant, O Lord, to all who
bear rule at this time courage, wis-
dom, and humility, that they may do
Thy will in the guidance of Thy Holy
Spirit, through Jesus Christ our Lord.

St. Bernard, On the Love of God.
Morehouse-Gorham.  $1.05.

An attractively printed new trans-
lation of one of the great Christian
classics.

The MARRIAGE SERVICE
By HUGH McCANDLESS

Single copy 10c -- 100 copies $4

THE WITNESS
Tunkhannock, Pennsylvania

Compliments of

Bob Duncan
REAL ESTATE

1420 Prince St.
ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA
King 8-8015 — Al. 3828

WILLIAM DEMAINE & SON
FUNERAL DIRECTORS

Since 1841

McGIFFIN - DEMAINE

FLOWERS

518 S. Washington St.

ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA
Te. 8787 — Al. 6112
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EPISCOPAL CHURCH NEWS

BISHOP PARDUE SPEAKS
AT CIO CONVENTION

When the international
convention of the CIO met in
Atlantic City on May 10th,
Bishop Austin Pardue of Pitts-
burgh gave the invocation and
an address. Since becoming a
bishop a little over six years ago
Bishop Pardue has enjoyed close
association with several CIO
leaders, especially among the
United Steel Workers. A great
many communicants of the dio-
cese of Pittsburgh are members
of the CIO, and in a few in-
stances the entire vestry of a
church is made up of CIO mem-
bers, or members of the United
Mine Workers.

CHURCHES SPONSOR
BENEFIT

St.  Philip’'s, New York,
joins with the Presbyterian
Church of the Master in spon-

\ 1908

soring a benefit theatre party
at “Lost in the Stars” on Me-
morial Day. The musical, with
its locale in South Africa, stars
Todd Duncan, tenor, in the role
of a South African Negro priest
of the Episcopal Church. The
money raised by the benefit will
be used for youth work in the
two churches, including its
camps. St. Philip’'s maintains
two camps, one at Burlington,
Vt., and the other at Tunkhan-
nock, Pa., where The Witness is
published.

EAST CAROLINA HAS
CONVENTION

The convention of the dio-
cese of East Carolina was held
at Christ Church, Elizabeth
City, N. C, May 10-11. The Rev.
Edgar R. Neff, field representa-
tive, explained to the delegates
the expanded program of the
National Council. The speaker

at the convention service was

the president of the University
of the South, Boylston Green.

LARGE SCHOLARSHIP
AT TRINITY

The largest scholarship be-
quest in the history of Trinity
College, Hartford, exceeding
$140,000, has been received
from the estate of the late Rev.
George M. Thompson. He was
rector of Christ Church, Green-
wich, Conn., from 1895 to 1924.
The fund will provide ten full-
tuition scholarships each year.

GLORIA DEI CHURCH
CELEBRATES

Gloria Dei (Old* Swedes)
Church, Philadelphia, launches
a year-long observation of the
250th anniversary of its church
building with special services on
June 4th. The historic building,
oldest church in Pennsylvania,
was built in 1700 on its present
site, though the history of the
parish dates back to 1642.

1950

MURPHY & AMES, Inc.
LUMBER and MILLWORK

Three Generations of Quality and Service
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HY CON,IN

PRECAST REINFORCED

Concrete Floor Joists

For

PERMANENCE — FIRE PROTECTION

NO TERMITES <« NO DRY ROT

NO MAINTENANCE

RECOMMENDED FOR ALL TYPES OF
CONSTRUCTION INCLUDING RESIDENCES

Factory

4701 Rhode Island Ave.
HYATTSVILLE, MD.

*>«

Geo. H. Robinson’s Sons

INCORPORATED

10 Prince Street — Telephone ALex. 2100
ALEXANDRIA, VA.

BUILDING MATERIAL
TRANSIT MIX CONCRETE
AUTOMATIC COAL STOKERS
SAND— GRAVEL

OIL BURNERS

COAL—FUEL OIL

i 98 Years of Reliable Service To Our Community

Twenty

—"

bl )]

-—)

SOUTHE

INCORPORATED

- ENGINEERS
- FABRICATORS
® ERECTORS

Duke and Union Streets
ALEXANDRIA, VA.

TEmple 1800 ALex. 0200
Exclusive Agents for
Truscon Steel Co’s. Products in Northern Virginia

where food is
served in a de-
lightful  country

cottage overlook-
ing the Nation’s

- 9
1sSs0ns
LITTLE TEA HOUSE

Capitol.
Luncheon ............. 12:00 to 2:30 J
Tea .oooevveeeeenn . «3:00 to 5:00 _I
Dinner ......... ... 5.00 to 8:00

Outside Terrace
Closed Mondays
Ample Parking Space

®

1301 South Arlington Ridge Road
ARLINGTON, VIRGINIA
Otis 7900
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EPISCOPAL CHURCH NEWS

(Continued from page 8)

a clear agreement as to policies
and procedures shall be made,
and clergy and laity of the dio-
cese shall be made available to
assist.

It is hoped to make a mini-
mum of four studies a year of
dioceses or districts, and there
will be provision for some local
studies of cities, counties or
small areas.

Mr. Wieland and the Rev.
Clifford L. Samuelson head the
administrative committee of the
unit, the Rev. Almon R. Pepper
and the Rev. Joseph G. Moore
for urban and industrial; Pep-
per and the Rev. J. Arnold Pur-
die for social service institutions
and parish social service; the
Rev. Tollie L. Caution for Negro
work, the Rev. Roger W. Blan-
chard for college work, and Miss
Mildred Ashland as committee
secretary. Assisting the field
staff with the officers named,
are the Rev. William B. Spof-
ford Jr., and Mr. Samuel A.
Lawrence, the Ven. Norman L.
Foote, Prof. William V. Dennis,
the Rev. Joseph W. Nicholson,
and others.

CHURCH WORK AT
POST CHAPEL

Bishop Goodrich R. Fenner
of Kansas recently visited the
post chapel at Fort Leaven-
worth, and returned filled with
enthusiasm over the work our
Church is doing among soldiers
and civilians in that area.

Said the Bishop: “What an
inspiring congregation! The
church is always filled to over-
flowing and the choir under the
direction of Miss Margaret
Berry is always of the highest
guality in presenting the music
of the church. During the serv-
ice, Chaplain Kenneth M. Sow-
ers presented fifty-one persons
for confirmation. The chaplain
must conduct numerous services
each week and direct the teach-
ers and pupils of a church school
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that numbers about five hun-
dred. After the service we went
over to the Fort Leavenworth
officers’ club, where the newly
confirmed and members of their
families were entertained at
dinner. There were one hun-
dred and ten people who sat
down to break bread. After the
dinner, Chaplain Sowers called
upon Lieut. General Eddy and
me to make speeches. He intro-
duced General Eddy as ‘the lead-
ing communicant of the chapel,
and | should say he is, even
though he entered an emphatic
disclaimer.”

ST. JOHN’S, STOCKTON
CELEBRATES

St. John’s, Stockton, Calif,,
marked its centennial May 4 at
the concluding service of the
synod of the Pacific, when 83
persons were confirmed simul-
taneously by five bishops at
Bishop Walters' invitation:
Campbell, suffragan of Los An-
geles; Kinsolving of Arizona;
Walters of San Joaquin; Rhea
of ldaho; Gooden, retired of
Los Angeles. The class was pre-
sented by Rector George F.
Pratt.

Bishop Rhea was elected
president of the province, suc-
ceeding Bishop Gooden.

@_To help a boy or girl chart
a happy and successful life;

Q_To help bring peace o fmind
to adear one sorely troubled;

A_To delight the soul of one

who loves the Bible but has
never owned an Oxford:

VYvVe cm

America’s Gift Bible since 1675

Your bookstore has many fine
editions for your selection

$1.65 to $250.00

CONVENTION HELD
AT FITCHBURG

The convention of the dio-
cese of western Mass., was held
May 17 at Christ Church, Fitch-
burg, with the Rev. A. Vincent
Bennett the host. The preacher
at the convention service was
the head of the home depart-
ment of the National Council,
the Rev. George Wieland, and
a missionary address was given
during the session by Bishop
Daniels of Montana.

CARILLONIC BELLS

Selected for National Evening
Hymn Memorial Carillon at

ARLINGTON NATIONAL
CEMETERY

"WHILE THESE BELLS RING,
SAFELY REST. FREEDOM LIVES!”

So reads the Memorial Tablet com-
memorating this gift of a mighty
electronic Carillon from the Ameri-
can Veterans of World War Il to
the people of the United States.

We, as the maker, are greatly
honored that. "Carillonic Bells”
have been accepted by Harry S.
Truman, President of the United
States, The Congress, and other
Government bodies for this soul-
stirring memorial.

The ever-increasing number of
"Carillonic Bell” instruments pro-
viding vibrant "Living Memorials”
in churches, universities, and pub-
lic locations throughout the world
testify to the musical and mechan-
ical superiority of this Schulmerich
product.

Prices are amazingly low—No
tower is_required. For informar
tion, write . ..

CARILLONIC BELLS

Schulmerich Electronics, Inc.

235 Carillon Hill, SELLERSVILLE, PA.
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CATHEDRAL STUDIOS
Washington, London. Materials, linens, by the
yd. Surplices, albs, Altar Linens, stoles, burses,
veils. My new book, “Church Embroidery &
Church Vestments” (1st edition sold out, 2nd
edition now ready). Complete instructions, 128
pages, 95 illustrations, vestment patterns drawn
to scale, price $6.50. Handbook for Altar
Guilds 53c. L. V. Mackrille, 11 W. Kirke St.,
Chevy Chase 15, Md. Tel. Wisconsin 2752.

ORGANIST-CHOIR DIRECTOR—Professional
pianist desires change to larger parish.
Diplomas of Trinity College of Music, Lon-
don. Will consider any medium sized city
in the East. Dan Haigh, 21 Birch St.,
Clinton, Mass.

| Everything for the T |
1 Episcopal Church ~ ft
I

gmmibon & Company I

HORACE L. VARIAN
| 31 S. Frederick St.

Exquisite
IRISH LINENS

BY THE YARD
Imported especially for Churches—all weaves
and widths, including fine Birdseye. Excep-
tional values. Also imported transfer patterns
for ecclesiastical embroideries, Linen tape, fine
D. M. C. and plexiglass pall foundations at
$1.00. Write for FREE samples.

MARY MOORE
Box 394-W Davenport,
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PEOPLE

DEATHS:

MRS. MARY LILE ROGERS, widow
of the Rev. E. Reinhold Rogers, died
in St Petersburg, Florida on May 2nd,
after an extended illness. The Rev.
Dr. Rogers was for many years, the
rector of the Boys Home, an insti-
tution of the diocese of Southwestern
Virginia and the diocese of Southern
Virginia located at Covington, Vir-
ginia. Before taking orders he had
been a member of the faculty of the
University of Virginia and head-
master of the Jefferson School in
Charlottesville. Mrs. Rogers was born
at Trinity, Alabama, and spent much
of her early life in the home of her
brother, Dr. William Minor Lile, dean
of the law school at the University of
Virginia. It was here that she met
Dr. Rogers. She is survived by three
sons, William Minor Lile Rogers of
Marblehead, Mass., E. Reinhold Rog-
ers Jr. of St. Petersburg, Florida and
John Lile Rogers of Lynchburg, Vir-
ginia. The burial office for Mrs. Rog-
ers was read in Charlottesville, Vir-
ginia on May 5th by her nephew, the
Rev. B. B. Comer Lile, rector of Christ
Church, Alexandria, Virginia.

ORDINATIONS:

GEORGE E. HAYNSWORTH was or-
dained priest May 10 by Bishop Car-
ruthers at Holy Trinity, Ridgeland,
S. C., where he is in charge. He also
serves churches at Bluffton and Estill.

LAY WORKERS:

W. TED GANNAWAY has resigned
as a member of the National Council
since business requires him to move
from the 4th province, which he rep-
resents. He was largely responsible
for the presentation of the Church’s
program through laymen earlier this
year.

CLERGY CHANGES:

H. R. COYKENDALL, formerly rec-
tor of St. Paul’s, Hudson, Wis., is now
assistant at Gethsemane, Minneapolis,
Minn.

PAUL F. WILLIAMS, formerly vicar
of Holy Communion, Liberty, N. Y.,
is now rector of St. Michael's, St
Michael’'s, Md.

JOHN J. MCCARTHY, assistant at
Tioga County Mission, diocese of Cen-
tral, N. Y. is now a novice, of the
Order of the Holy Cross.

JOSIAH O. HOFFMAN JR., formerly
rector of St. Luke’s, Monrovia, Calif.,
is now vicar of St. Dunstan's, San
Diego, Calif.,, and chaplain to Episco-
pal students at San Diego State
College.

“Northern Virginia’'s
Leading Stationers”

Wm. E. Lee Co,, Inc.

Branch of Chas. G. Stott Co., Inc.

1642 King Street
ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA
Office Equipment

Personal Stationery

POSITION OFFERED: Assistant in New
Jersey Suburban Parish; Church School and

Young People’s work, Evangelical Church-
manship. Box T. Witness Tunkhannock,
Pa.

POSITION WANTED-Young woman, exper-
ienced, wants combined position as organist-
choir director and director of religious edu-
cation. Windham House graduate, now fin-
ishing Master of Sacred Music degree. Prefer
South or Middle West. Box H, WITNESS,
Tunkhannock, Pa.

FINEST PURE IRISH LINEN
for all Church usep. Famous old quali-
ties at economy prices. Also Vestment
patterns, transfers, D.M.C. and fine
“Waxt” thread. Samples free.

MARY FAWCETT COMPANY
BOX 146 PLAINFIELD, N. J.

MONEY for your TREASURY

Over 1,500,000
SUNFLOWER DISH CLOTHS

Were sold in 1946 by members of Sunday
Schools, Ladies Aids, Young People’s Groups,
etc. They enable you to earn money for your
treasury, and make friends for your organiza-

tion.
SANGAMON MILLS
Established 1915 Cohoes. N. Y.

Write us for

Organ Information

AUSTIN ORGANS,
Hartford, Comt.

Inc.

THE BISHOP WHITE
PRAYER BOOK SOCIETY
Founded by Bishop White 1833
Donates to Missions, Institutions and Parishes
unable to purchase them, in limited grants.
FEW B8IZE

The Book of Common Prayer
The Church Hymnal (words only)
Apply Thb Rev. Allen Evans,d.d., s.t.d., Sec.
319 Lombard St., Philadelphia 47, Pa.
Endorsement of Bishop must accompany request

* RIGEISSLERINGG *

Grmrftiumsimas

IN CARVED WOOD AND
MAEBLE'BRASS'SILVER
FABRICS + WINDOWS
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BACKFIRE

Readers are encouraged to comment on editorials, articles and news.

Since space is limited we ask that letters he brief.

We reserve

the right to abstract and to print only those we consider important

FREDERICK J. WARNECKE
Dean of Trinity Cathedral, Newark

The failure of the Church to raise
the new budget so enthusiastically
passed by General Convention should
cause us to re-examine the bases of
our Church giving. For the lack of
success in the March 12th campaign
cannot be ascribed either to general
lack of,assent throughout the Church
to the new budget, nor to the depart-
ment of promotion, nor even to our
convenient scapegoat, the second
province. The department of promo-
tion went all out to provide mate-
rials, to train leadership, to make
speakers available, and to implement
the campaign. Failure nonetheless
indicates once more that we have
reached a dead end in the approach
behind the every member canvass. In
brief, that philosophy has been to
insist that if we would educate the
people of the Church in the needs of
the Church, they would give to the
budget.

But they haven't! Year after year,
we have failed to meet the full pro-
posed national budget, despite all
kinds of education and promotional
strategy.

I suggest that we turn to the Chris-
tian concept of stewardship. The pro-
cess would then be straightforward
and intimately connected with a man’s
personal religion. We would teach
that every Christian is called upon by
God to be a good steward of his time,
of his talents and of his possessions.
This demand is unrelated to parish
budgets or missionary quotas. Every
man personally has a responsibility to
God to be a good steward.

This stewardship is, in part, ful-
filled by proportionate giving of his
income. The tithe is the traditional
and biblical percentage. Why are we
Episcopalians afraid to say this? Im-
mediately it answers the question,
How much should | give? We avoid
the delusion of ‘average’ gifts. We
solve the situation of a wealthy man
in a small parish; as well as the need
for the widow’s mite.

Budgets would then be explained' as
reports of the stewardship of execu-
tives and leaders charged with ex-
pending our gifts. The great mission-
ary work of the Church would be
taught as the result of good steward-
ship, and not used as a lever to pry
grudging gifts from reluctant people.

I have faith that if the Church
taught Christian stewardship and
tithing, far greater sums would be
available for parishes, for dioceses
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and for the national Church. If Holy
Scripture is not sufficient warrant for
this, look at those Churches giving the
largest gifts for missionary work!
They are without exception those that
have preferred to accept Christian
stewardship and. tithing to the tricks
of modern advertising.

MRS. C. E. ROBERTS
Churchwoman of Dallas

Concerning “Morning Prayer in
Modern English” (Witness, May 4) |
fail to see any necessity for, or im-
provement In, Dean Warnecke's
changes. Why is “schemes” better
than “devices;” “fellowship of believ-
ers” Dbetter than “communion of
saints"—to take two at random? If
“redeemed with thy precious life” is
better than “blood,” will the commun-
ion service have to be changed to
read, “this is my life?” The whole
thing is so unnecessary.

Let the writer revise such hymns
as “He who would valiant be” and
“Once to every man and nation” and
others. | smile to think of an Episco-
pal congregation “sharing the wretch-
ed crust.” Why not revise Shakes-
peare?

| did enjoy “Life in a Wrecktofy”

by Mrs. Minifie and the letter in
Backfire by James J. Joseph of
Brooklyn. | also greatly enjoyed the

adventures of Mr. Entwhistle and
hope that there may be more to come.

Please Allow Two Weeks for Address
Change, giving old and new address.
The Witness Tunkhannock, Pa.

Virginia Episcopal School
LYNCHBURG, VIRGINIA
Prepares boys for colleges and university.
Splendid environment and excellent corps of
teachers. High standard in scholarship and
athletics. Healthy and beautiful location in
the mountains of Virginia.
For catalogue, apply to

George L. Barton, Jr., Ph.D., Head-
master - Box 408

HOLDERNESS

,The White Mountain School, for boys
13-19.  Thorough college preparation in
small classes. Student government empha-
sizes responsibility. Team sports, sknng.
Debating. Glee Club. Art. New fire-
proof buildings.

REV. EDRIC A. WELD, Rector
Box W Plymouth, N. H.

KEMPER HALL

Kenosha, Wisconsin

Boarding and day school for girls offering
thorough college preparation and training for
purposeful living. Study of the Fine Arts
encouraged. Complete sports program. Junior
school department. Beautiful lake shore campus.
Under the direction of the Sisters of St. Mary.

FOR CATALOG, ADDRESS, BOX WT

SCHOOLS

A three year course in

NURSING

is offered to High School Graduates
Scholarships available
Write to Director of Nursing

HOSPITAL OF SAINT BARNABAS
685 High St, Newark 2, N. J.
Affiliated with Rutgers University

------- LENOX SCHOOL

A Church School in the Berkshire Hills for
boys 12-18 emphasizing Christian ideals and
character through simplicity of plant and
equipment, moderate tuition, the coopera-
tive self-help system, and informal, personal
relationships among boys and faculty.

REV. ROBERT L. CURRY, Headmaster
Lenox, Massachusetts

SAINT STEPHEN'S SCHOOL

A coeducational, Church school, grades 8-12,
operated hy the Episcopal Diocese of Texas.
Chief purpose, to give religious education
equal emphasis with general education, and
provide a Christian community. Excellent
faculty of church lay people. Beautiful loca-
tion. = Splendid climate.

REV. WILLIAM BREWSTER
1803 Elton Lane, Austin, Texas

CARLETON COLLEGE

Laurence M. Gould, D.Sc., President
Carleton is a co-educatiorial liberal arts col-
lege of limited enrollment and is recognized
as the Church College of Minnesota.

Address: Director of Admissions

Carleton College
Northfleld Minnesota

FORK UNION

MILITARY ACADEMY

Highest Government rating with strong Chris
tian emphasis. Upper School prepares for Uni-
versity or Business. Fully accredited. R.O.T.C.
Every modern equipment. Separate  Junior
School from six year» up, housemothers. Stu-
dents from thirty states. Catalogue, DR. J

WICKER, BOX 284, FORK UNION, Va!

The Hannah More Academy

Est. 1832, Episcopal school for girls, grades
7-12. Outstanding preparation for leading
colleges, also General Academic Course,
Music, Art, Athletics and Riding carefully
supervised. Eighteen miles northwest of
Baltimore. Moderate rates. Catalogue.

ELIZABETH N. HARVEY, M.A.
Headmistress, Reisterstown, Md.

CATHEDRAL CHOIR SCHOOL

New York
Established 1901
A BOARDING SCHOOL for thé forty
bovs of the Choir of the Cathedral of Saint
John the Divine. The boys receive careful
musical training and sing daily at the serv-
ice in the Cathedral. The classes in the
School are small with the result that boys
have individual attention, and very high
standards are maintained. The School has
its own building and playgrounds in the
close. Fee—$450.00 per annum. Bovs admit-
ted 9 to 11. Voice test and scholastic ex-
amination. For Catalogue and information
address:

The CANON PRECENTOR,

Cathedral Choir School
Cathedral Heights, N. Y. City 25

Twenty-three
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK

ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA

THE OLDEST NATIONAL BANK IN VIRGINIA

Organized December 17, 1864

DEPARTMENTS

Commercial Banking
T rusts
Safe Deposits

Savings

Personal Loans

CAPITAL AND SURPLUS — ONE MILLION DOLLARS

OFFICERS

Gardner L. Boothe—President

Geo. E. Warfield—Exec. Vice President
and Trust Officer

Arthur K. Warfield—Asst. Vice-Pres.

Herbert W. O’'Meara— Cashier

C. Fred Schreiner—Trust Officer

Marshall J. Beverley— Asst. Cashier

Arthur M. Rector—Asst. Cashier

DIRECTORS
Gardner L. Boothe
Elliott F. Hoffman
Harry Hammond
Ashton C. Jones Jr.
George E. Warfield

MEMBER OF FEDERAI. DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION





